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125 Years of Clapham College                                           

Chapter 6-1940 to 1950  

Second World War more heroes at the College  

The heroes of World War Two were not just those who fought against the Germans and 

Japanese, but there was also the Home Guard, the parents, the mother who went 

through unimageable trauma. But for the College the teachers, brothers and boys be-

came heroes in their own way and for Clapham; Evacuation to East Grinstead and finally 

to Taunton beckoned. John Keen, [Earl of Chatham’s diary is below] blotches & oath too. 

1. Evacuee John Keen’s War Diary 
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2. John Keen’s Address Book and War Diary 1944 

Some lovely ideas from an evacuee 
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3. Peter Keen,  John’s cousin writes 

The County [girls] Grammar School; today [Imberhorne Lower School, East Grinstead] 
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The Experiences of a London Evacuee [edit] 

          [CSV Action Desk Leicester [Community Service Volunteers—a registered charity 2005]                                                 

James Paul John Robinson [Somerset ] John joined the “evacuated”  Clapham College in Somerset in 

1944 - I was born James Paul John Robinson on 30th April 1933 in London. On the 3rd September 1939 we 

were evacuated to Bridgewater in Somerset. We arrived after what felt like the longest day. At 6am we 

were on the tube and from Paddington Station arrived in Somerset at 10pm. We then started our long 

trek round Bridgewater looking for foster homes. I was 6 years old, my sister Bronwyn was 7 years old and 

my brother Gordon was 4. 

At about midnight they knocked on the door of Mr and Mrs Johns, an elderly couple who owned a bakery 

and tea rooms and they took us in for 1 or 2 nights. We were well looked after and I "worked" in the              

bakery and they gave me a few coins. They made us welcome. They kept us until after Christmas 1939. We 

were put in a home in January 1940. The couple lived next door to the cattle market and only took us in 

for the money. I remember always being hungry - it wasn't a happy time for us. Then Gordon and I were 

then sent to another home where anything our mum sent for us (like clothing) was given to their own           

children and we were given their cast offs. 

In the early 1941's my mum, gran and new brother Peter came from London and went to live with a               
couple and my sister Bronwyn went to live there as well. During this time my father was away in the army 
and we never saw him. We had no sweets, chocolates or bananas; we had a deprived childhood. We were 
dressed in rags and I only had short trousers until I was 13 or 14 years old. My dad being in the Army so 
my mum didn't have much money. 
If we discovered the greengrocer had a couple of crates of oranges coming in, we would queue all night. 
Not for the oranges as we couldn't afford those, but for the crates. We would take these home to use as 
chairs. 
We were all living together now. We were at school in Bridgewater - it was an evacuated school from    
London. With the cramped conditions in the classroom it's a surprise that we had an education at all. But 
there was discipline and the teachers were good. I just loved Maths. In spelling you were given a piece of 
chocolate or half an apple if you were one of the last two standing in a test. Being one of nine children I 
used my brain and made sure I was one of them. 
I took my scholarship exam and passed and was awarded a seat at a London school - a Catholic Secondary 
School. I had to go to Clapham College [in 1944] which was evacuated to a Girls School. We shared the 
school with the girls 6 days a week. My mum had a few break downs so we spent some time in a children's 
home. In between we would gather flowers and fruits in season and sell them around the houses for  
money for groceries.                                                                                                                                                                       
All through our evacuation time in Somerset I was a member of three church choirs, a member of St John's           
Ambulance Brigade and the Sea Cadets. I went to dances and there were a number of cinemas - the Rex, 
Odeon. They would show two films and cartoons. We hardly missed a show, we’d get in even though we 
had no money. 
I had some good friends - Rex Courtenay and his sister Hazel, Clive "Bunny" Davies and Len Beak.                                                      
At about 13 years old I realised that I needed money to buy things, for example a bike.  I had a morning 
paper round and for this would get 2s and 6. I worked in a shoe shop straight after school and received 4 
shillings a week and then I had an evening paper round as well. I would do all my homework at school   
before I left and during breaks as I had nowhere at home to study.  
There were a few minor air raids in Somerset. There was one where my mother was living and the bomb 
didn't explode but just missed the baby's cot and went straight through the floor. I was very fit since we 
had to walk everywhere. I was 15 and a half when I joined the army and stayed in as a regular soldier.                                                           
In 1949 my family finally went back to London; the War had robbed me of my life in London. 
I went on however to learn and become fluent in EIGHT different languages.  I have travelled the world 
and trained and qualified as a quantity surveyor.  
 
James Robinson Clapham College 1944 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
 This story was submitted to the “People's War Website” by Lisa Reeves of CSV Action  

4. Evacuee James Robinson Clapham College 1944 - sad story 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/ww2peopleswar/user/73/u1490173.shtml
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5. Return to Clapham  1947 College looking resplendent 

Summer 1947 the College looks fantastic 
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6.  New History teacher arrives - Education as we knew it at Clapham changes 1943 
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7. A “selection“ of the exchange of letters between Br Alphonse and Br Aloysius 

These are great letters, please stick with the sequence 



9 

For clarification the College had been evacuated to East Grinstead. The Clapham boys were safe in Sussex.   

Brother Aloysius [BAH] not the bravest of Xaverians was left behind at Clapham to watch over the place 

Brother Alphonse was in East Grinstead overseeing the boys, making decisions for the College in Clapham. 

 
8. Getting to the “root” of the problem - ”ciggies” 
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       9. Sounding “Fed-Up 
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10. Alphonse writes again 
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11. Aloysius writes 
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12. Headline - LCC cause surcharge of 5 pence on letter 
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Balham High Street Bombing 

 
     13.  Bombs rain down on Balham 
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14. It ain’t my fault - blame the Germans 
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15. Excuse the state of the paper - “again it’s the Bombing” 
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16. Goodbye from the Clapham Community 
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17. Evacuation of Clapham College to “sleepy” East Grinstead, Sussex 

From rundown bombed and 

battered South west London the 

Clapham boys were billeted in              

beautiful houses in East Grinstead. 

Barton St Marys photographs above; 

was the hub where the brothers 

lived with some of the boys. It is a 

“listed building”. ……...more overleaf 

Barton St Marys 
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18. Barton St Marys is a  “Lutyens” designed building 

Lutyens original drawings for Barton St Marys 

Why the fuss? Sir Edwin Landseer Lutyens is 

the greatest British architect of all time, he 

built these monuments as well as Barton. 

The evacuees link to our WW1 heroes. 
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Brian Whit - the Key Note speaker at the 2019 Chairman’s Lunch gave some reflections 
on his time as an evacuee:- Brian was evacuated from Clapham in 1940 at 11 years old 
[he now Lives in Woldingham Surrey], a while ago he visited the memorials at St 
Swathe’s Church and East Court, East Grinstead where amongst a long list of those who 
died in that terrible bombing of 9th July 1943 was his puppy-love girlfriend, as he put it! 

Brian himself might have been on that list too had he not travelled home for the week-
end. Amongst his other recollections was a Junkers 88 being fired at by a British Fighter 
plane and losing height. When he arrived at school he was told it had crashed at the  
Imberhorne Lane / London Road junction.  

He also remembers vividly Messerschmitt’s flying low over the school – they could be 
seem at rooftop height and machine-gunned the town. “It was all over before we could 
even get to the shelter” he said.                                                                                                                

Of the Flying Bombs which arrived later in the War, Brian commented “In the middle of 
the night we heard this strange aircraft “put-put” sound, and from the next days     
newspapers it appeared that it was one of the first to fall onto London. We then had 
the one that was “tipped” by a Spitfire” at about 6am on morning. There was suddenly 
this loud bag and rush of air and I saw the bedroom curtains at right angles to the              
window, followed by crashing glass!”  

It was soon after that that the College was “re-evacuated” – if that’s a word, to Taunton 
in Somerset”. Brian finishes with the reflection “its memories such as these that           
impress upon us that Remembrance Sunday each year is a time to recall the horror and 
tragedy of war and to realise that it should never again be waged unless there is                 
absolutely no alternative. – Brian White  

19. Brian White, Clapham Evacuee; 2019 Key Note Lunch Speaker writes: 

After the Cinema Bombing the 

College was “re-evacuated” to 

Bishop Fox School, Somerset. 
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 `The Evacuation to East Grinstead In August 1939, I was then 13 and on holiday at East 
Wittering with my family. Even to me it was obvious that war clouds were gathering, and, 
on 2nd September, I went back to London with my elder sister, a teacher, to report to my 
Secondary School, Clapham College, in South London, to join the evacuation. Our school 
was a Catholic school run by a religious Order, the Xaverian Brothers. The Primary 
Schools had been leaving in the previous two days (war having broken out in Poland), 
and we were ordered to report at the school on 3rd September.                                                         
 There we were issued with a brown carrier bag containing two days emergency                  
rations:  if I remember correctly, two tins of corned beef, two of tinned milk, two packets 
of dry biscuits, etc. We were then marshalled in the playground and moved off to             
Balham station, where we waited for a train. No one knew where we were bound for: 
various trains full of evacuees came through, and finally one stopped for us.                                                
We still didn’t know our destination until we decanted at Three Bridges Station. We                  
gathered in the forecourt where we were told a bus was coming. I don’t think even the 
teachers knew any more than us! Then that word went around that England was at war.                                          
 The buses arrived and we were taken off, some to Forest Row, but many of us,      
including myself, to Paw Hatch Hall, then the residence of the Kindersley family. I                             
remember my quarters were a room over the laundry building: there were emergency 
beds, canvas stretchers on a low support. There some sixty or so of us remained for 
about two months. We used the large dining hall to eat and pass the day in - I remember 
at first the seniors filled in time with protracted games of Monopoly, while we younger 
boys watched from the side-lines.                                                                                                                              
 On Sundays we walked to the Notre Dame Convent at Wych Cross for Mass. My 
mother got to see me at Plaw Hatch, thanks to a London neighbour with a car. Gradually 
the teachers organised some classes, and a football pitch in the grounds. After two 
months or so, we moved into East Grinstead and billeted ourselves around town (those 
who had gone to Forest Row were already billeted there). I was very fortunate in being 
billeted at the Turners - old Mrs Turner and her unmarried daughter, Miss May Turner.                                           
 I stayed there until the end of my school days in June 1944. Mr Turner (then dead) 
had been a partner in the estate agents, Turner, Rudge and Turner. Across the road from 
“Elmstead” they owned a field, where a pony and a goat lived: Miss Turner was a                                      
devoted supporter of the RSPCA and had “rescued” these neglected animals. At the back 
of the house there were quite extensive sheds, where the cattle destined for the market 
in Cantaloupe Road, had once been housed overnight.                                                                                                   
 There was also a grass tennis court, where Miss Turner taught me tennis. She also 
taught me to play bridge, and I had to make up a four with her lady friends (quite                             
terrifying players they were!). It must have been very difficult for Miss Turner (her                    
mother died not long after our arrival) having to cope with two teen-age boys, but she 
was a  wonderful sort of foster-mother to me and a life-long friend. Years later, as a  
Catholic priest, I was privileged to take part in her funeral in the Parish Church and        
allowed to pay a heart-felt tribute to her.                                                                                         

Continued overleaf 

20. My Evacuation Tale - Monsignor Canon Cyril Murtagh  
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 Of course, it was hard living away from home, but we used to go home for the 
weekend and school holidays, to enjoy being bombed in London! Bombs, or not, home 
was home! As I got older, I and others used to ride home to London on a bicycle (to save 
money of course) and, on Monday set off about 7 am to ride back in time for school, 
meeting my friends also cycling back for 9 am assembly.                                                                                                  
 The school got going again in late 1939 by sharing the then County School, though 
we operated as a separate entity, taught by our own staff. One of the three stray bombs   
ever to fall on the town demolished the Whitehall Cinema. I remember that Cinema full 
of people: one of our boys was among those killed, and, after the Requiem Mass in the 
Catholic Church, we went over to another of the Order’s schools, Mayfield College, 
where he was buried in their cemetery. One story, quite apocryphal, I am sure, was of 
an old East Sussex character in the quite strong Sussex accent, saying “In 1939, a lot of 
funny old parson fellows came here with a lot of damn boys!”                                                          
 We used to relish the    local life then, though we formed quite a tight community 
of our own. East Grinstead was full of troops, with occasional clashes between the      
Canadians and he Irish Guards from Hobbs Barracks! We got used to the sight of the 
burn’s cases from the Hospital walking around the town, and some of us older boys 
helped out at the Hospital. I remember what enormous trust these terribly burnt young 
RAF crewmen had in the famous                                                                                                                
 We saw much of the preparations for D-Day around us: every bit of woodland was 
full of ammunition shelters; half the dual carriage way of the Caterham Bypass was 
closed and used as a tank park. When, at 18, I came to take my Higher Schools                    
Certificate, we wrote our exams ready to dive under the desks if one of the flying bombs 
that continually went over decided to crash on us! I vividly remember coming back to 
Miss Turner’s after the last paper to find a telegram from my mother saying: “Home 
damaged: all safe”. I packed a bag at once and took the Green Line to London to take 
part in clearing up the appalling mess: that was the end of my East Grinstead days!                               
 The school was very soon re-evacuated to Taunton, but by then I had left.  

 Monsignor Canon                 
    Cyril Murtagh                   
Clapham College 1937-44        
     Glastonbury                       
   ++ RIP 2021 ++ 

21. My Evacuation-continued- Monsignor Canon Cyril Murtagh  
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          The Second World War was a testing time for everyone in Britain. Yet it brought to 
the surface the underlying resilience of the people; their stoicism in adversity; a heightened 
regard and concern for others; and ingenuity in the manner so many coped with the lack of 
food and amenities once taken for granted. For us, the young children, it was one great                                
adventure. At night you slept in an air-raid shelter. This would be one made of corrugated 
iron and half-submerged in the garden, or a box-like, steel structure housed under a dining 
table. While adults feared the nightly bombing raids and lay awake until the `all-clear` rang 
out, we slept soundly. In the daytime at school, we ran to a brick-built shelter if enemy 
planes were spotted overhead. In the classroom, there were frequent gaps where your     
compatriots had sadly perished or been evacuated to safer areas of the countryside.          
 This was the norm: accepted without question. Others may die, but as a child you were 
invulnerable. The landscape regularly changed overnight. After an enemy raid, in the dust-
laden light of morning, rows of houses were no longer standing. Piles of rubble: often just a 
bare chimney stack or a flight of stairs left standing. We collected shrapnel. Irregular chunks 
of metal, scarcely identifiable as elements of weaponry, were highly prized. The bigger, the 
more misshapen, the higher your stock rose with your peers. We made camps in houses that 
had been blasted out of existence. We met and played amongst the ruins, where walls were 
standing so precariously, that at any moment they might topple over. We travelled on buses 
hopefully taking you to your destination. Passengers could not see out the windows, for they 
were covered in anti-blast material. Twice my mother took me away from London for the 
safety of the provinces. Neither visit was long-lasting, rural life was not to her liking.            
 We returned after the second foray to find; our house had been obliterated by German 
bombs. In fact, the whole street had gone. So, we moved to another part of the city, and the 
nightly routine of taking inadequate shelter resumed. I vaguely recall, even to this day, the 
flavour of whale meat [an alternative, which only required half the usual number of tokens 
from your ration book]. Another taste protein substitute that comes to mind is that of                 
powdered egg. Exported from America, packed in distinctive brown, wax cartons. Fruit was 
rarely available, certainly not imported varieties like oranges, pineapples or bananas. I had 
seen these in comics and wondered what they tasted like. My mother, not a kitchen                      
goddess, boiled some parsnips into submission and added drops of banana essence to the 
mush. For pineapples she acquired some swedes and added the requisite essence. It took 
many years before I could be persuaded to try the real thing.                                                                        
 In the latter stages of the War, the enemy resorted to dispatching V1 flying bombs. 
Fired from launch sites along the French and Dutch coasts, the first arrived over London a 
week after the D-Day Landing. The `doodlebug`, or `buzz bomb`, as they were called, were 
designed for the propulsion unit to stop and plummet to earth over the target. It became a 
feature of their attack to watch them fly overhead and then run for cover when the rudi-
mentary jet engine cut out. Each week one was only allowed 4 ounces of bacon or ham, and 
a pound of meat. The list was quite extensive. (2oz of tea, 8 oz of sugar, 2 oz of cheese, 2 oz 
of butter. You were only allowed 12 oz of sweets each month). To purchase clothing,          
coupons were required; petrol was only available to the necessary services; and coal was    
severely restricted for domestic usage. In retrospect, the health of the people showed a 
marked improvement. For the limited diet, and the need to walk more often, stimulated 
greater well-being.                                                      Continued overleaf 

22. Empathy…LEST WE FORGET – Patrick Gooch                                                                     
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As a child during the War, without the cares and concerns of adulthood, I would say that 
the period, 1939-45, was entertaining, at times highly exciting. However, I would not 
want my grandchildren now even my greatgrandchildren, to suffer the experience.                
 How would you feel What would you take? How would you be expected to be                 
treated by the family you stayed with? What about news on your family; London being 
bombed and your Dad/Brother in the Army fighting? The evacuation of civilians in Britain 
during the Second World War was designed to protect people, especially children, from 
the risks associated with aerial bombing of cities by moving them to areas thought to be 
less at risk. Operation Pied Piper, which began on 1 September 1939, officially relocated 
more than 3.5 million people halves were children…by 1940.a lot had moved back…             
 I had always thought of them as rather lucky, particularly as I, as a baby (and by 
most standards a very privileged one), had spent much of the war in my parents' flat in St 
Paul's churchyard, at the heart of the blitz, risking annihilation. The evacuees, I assumed, 
had escaped from danger and urban squalor to spend the war gambolling gaily across hill 
and dale, breathing fresh air and eating the fruits of the land. But, no. That's not how 
James Roffey, the founder of the Evacuees Reunion Association, which organised the St 
Paul's event, sees it. The purpose of the service, he said, was to help people understand 
the truth about the trauma of evacuation. "It's giving us, at long last, recognition," he 
said. "We never received any certificates or medals – I don't think we expected them – 
but for years the whole evacuation story has been surrounded by myths. If somebody 
said to any parent today, 'We're going to evacuate your children; we can't tell you where 
they're going, we can't tell you who they'll be living with and we don't know when they'll 
be coming home again,' how many people would say yes to that?" Well, I would have 
thought that many people would still say yes to that if the sky was raining bombs and 
their children's safety was their foremost concern. But that said, it is clear from the                
first-hand accounts published in the media this week that for many children evacuation 
meant misery and desperate homesickness. And this was often because the British were 
not always suffused with the warm feelings of national solidarity and goodwill towards 
each other that are supposed to have characterised the Dunkirk spirit. Snobbery,                 
selfishness, and bloodymindedness were not, alas, completely extinguished by the Nazi 
threat. recalled the "punch-ups" with local children "who did not want us there at all". 
Many country people believed that urban children were dirty, lice-ridden and badly      
behaved, he added. But the worst thing was not knowing how long he was going to be 
away from home. "It was bewildering and very disturbing," he said. "The fear was that 
we were never going to go home. A lot of people had a very dark and troubled time." 
rich widow and her servants. "She refused to come to the door, and the maid who         
answered, a sour woman dressed in a black-and-white uniform, made it clear that they 
wanted nothing to do with scruffy urchins from the East End," he said. "The result was 
that we were kept locked in our bedroom when not at school. We never got any cooked 
meals. When we complained we were hungry, we were told to consider ourselves lucky – 
there was a war on." Though his letters home were censored, Matthews managed to 
smuggle one out to his mother, appealing to her to rescue him. A few days later she 
turned up and took him away. How far do you think you would have to be evacuated 
form the city if you had to be moved away from bombing? 10 miles 20 miles or more? 
What would you take with you if you had to leave home for 4 or 5 years? We just obeyed. 

23. Evacuee Empathy - Patrick Gooch 
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Alexius Thomas McEntee 1939 to 1943 

Aloysius John Clarkson 1939 to 1950 

Alphonsus James Duffy 1946 to 1949 

Bede John Howard 1942 to 1944 

Bernard Thomas Mulroy 1944 to 1965 

Bernardine John Barry 1897 to 1940 

Chrysostom John Daly 1939 to 1943 

David Robert Watmough 1945 to 1953 

Dominic John Troy 1940 to 1948 

Dunstan James Hill 1914 to 1970 

Henry Paul Francis Hatherly 1945 to 1947 

Joseph C Booth 1947 to 1954 

Matthias William Corbridge 1943 

Mattihas Peter Atherton 1920 to 1940 

Nathanael John L. Twombly 1946-1947 

Nicholas Edward Tarbet 1939 to 1945 

Paul Pamphyle Inaghebeur 1897 to 1940 

Pius Francis McKeown 1931 to 1942 

Raymond Wilfred Rochford [1940] 

Vincent J. Hemblade 1939 to 1946 

Wilfred Richard Bashall 1939 - 1944 

24. Xaverian Brothers who protected the boys and the Xaverian ethic during Evacuation 
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Alexius Local Superior Clapham during WW2 and East Grinstead 

Aloysius Superior / Head / French  “Held the fort” at Clapham College during the Blitz… 

Alphonsus Superior [Classics] from Lanark, retired to Bradley House, Mayfield 

Bede Novice Master Taught at East Grinstead 

Bernard Housekeeper/Refectorian Discreet and circumspect, observing the greatest silence on all affairs 

Bernardine Headmaster Local Superior at Clapham / Headmaster 

Chrysostom Sacristan, Refectorian East Grinstead and Clapham twice - died at the College in 1970 

David Admin/Sec. to Br Joseph Joined Brother Joseph Booth on climbing holidays [students] Lake District 

Dominic left Brothers - dispensed East Grinstead with evacuees 1943 to 45 / CC again 1945 to 47 

Dunstan Chemistry Death saved Dunstan from the end he dreaded - a nursing home. 

Henry Boarded - Physics Studied for his BSc - stayed at the College 

Joseph Headteacher [and French] Lightning Strike [Africa] - died on St Francis Xavier's Feast Day 

Matthias  Student then teacher left Clapham in 1943 to become Superior Mayfield 

Matthias Superior In retirement he oversaw Bradley Hall at Mayfield College 

Nathanael Clapham War - Mayfield USA Brother taught year Clapham - made great impression on the boys 

Nicholas Head East Grinstead Married 

Paul Cook WW2 at Clapham [born Merken, Belgium] - 

Pius Music & Sport left to join Manchester - evacuated in Blackpool 

Raymond Boarded taught History Worked at all the English schools and was in Rome 

Vincent Head East Grinstead Dispensed - married 

Wilfred Admin East Grinstead and Foxhunt [Superior]  Novice Master/Provincial Secretary. 

25. The Brothers of World War II -  one-liners on their character 
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26. Peter Kelleher 1920-2016 [Clapham College 1931-36 Charterhouse] 

Peter 

Catholic 

Family man 

Soldier 

Hero 

Xaverian 
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27. Dr Michael Nicholls [Clapham College 1943-1950 Charterhouse] 
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 Nigel [Nick] Lynch            

Clapham College                                   

1937 to 1947                                           

Captain of Charterhouse 

28. Pupil Nick Lynch & Teacher Ernie Wright 

Am I too young to remember the 

five shilling note? I obviously used 

the old green One Pound Note. But 

Five Shillings? Worth what today?? 
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Richard Clare [at the College  1924-1930] lived in Grandison Road about half a mile from 
the  College. He was born in 1914 to parents Frank and Margaret. Richard started at   Clap-
ham College 1924, he left in the 5th Year and went off to the world of work. His family 
moved to Worcester Park after Richard left Clapham. At the outbreak of the Second World 
War Richard enlisted at RAF Uxbridge. He gained his “pilot wings”, was promoted to      
Sergeant he joined 105 squadron [a strike bomber unit ]. In 1941 Richard was detached to 
Malta carrying out attacks on shipping in the Mediterranean Sea.                                                             
 He later moved RAF Horsham St Faith near Norwich and began flying the new De 
Haviland Mosquito. In July 1942, Richard and No.105 Squadron raided the submarine 
yards at Flensburg, near the German / Denmark border successfully bombing the                       
submarine slipways….totally destroying them.                                                                                                     
He was now flying an aircraft made for precision bombing and in September 1942 he was 
part of the attack against the Gestapo Headquarters in Oslo, destroying records on the 
Norwegian resistance fighters held there.                                                                                                                                                           
 He was involved in the first daylight raids on Berlin. But such raids left Richard and his 
fellow pilots open to enemy anti-aircraft gunfire. On the 27th January 1943 his                 
mosquito squadron carried out a raid on the Burmeister Wain Diesel plant - Richard’s           
starboard  engine was hit by Ack-Ack fire and it failed, he was limping back to his base in 
Norfolk, that summer’s evening, when his plane hit a barrage balloon, there to                      
protect the aerodrome, he clipped a tree, before the mosquito crashed and caught fire.                                       
 Both Richard and his co-pilot Flight Officer Edward Doyle died instantly – they were 
the only casualties of the eight mosquitos who carried out the raid. In the aftermath of 
the raid people in Copenhagen wore RAF blue as a mark of sympathy for a distant ally. The 
raid on Burmeister Wain was seen as strategic target, Winston Churchill himself                    
sanctioned the raid on Copenhagen. Richard Clare died aged of 29. Buried at Mahram 
Cemetery, Swaffham Norfolk - His gravestone reads –                                                                     
                                                                                                                        
      GREATER LOVE THAN THIS NO MAN HATH,                                                                                  
    THAN TO LAY DOWN HIS LIFE FOR HIS FRIEND  

 

Richard’s 105 Squadron                         

De Haviland Mosquito No.105 
Richard’s life ended by an RAF                 

Barrage Balloon located to protect him. 

29. Richard Clare RAF crashed on 27th January 1943  
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30. This really gives a feeling of life in the Blitz by a Clapham College boy - but which one! 
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    31. Unnamed BLITZ account 

WHEN I DISCOVER THE AUTHOR - THIS WILL BE ATTRIBUTED 
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32. Vlad writes his story for the PRESS - no NOT Concordia 
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Wartime experiences When the war began, I was 6 and my wife 
was 5 and just before it kicked off the first things that happened 
were people had shelters dug in the middle of their gardens and 
these were made of corrugated iron in a U shape and sunk into the 
ground at about 4 feet and covered over with the soil from the 
original hole and 6 adults could take shelter in one of them during 
an air raid.                                                                                                                  
The next thing that happened was officials came round and issued 
everyone with Identity cards and this was followed by more                 
officials issuing everyone with gas masks made of rubber & metal 
with Perspex screens and we carried them around with us in               
cylindrical metal cases hung over our shoulders for the whole war. 

 When the air raids started in 1940, they were mainly in the daytime and unfortunately the 

weather was sunny with lovely blue skies. just right for the German bombers but I                      

borrowed LT Aldersons binoculars to watch the dog fights over London in which the 

Spitfires and Hurricanes knocked hell out of the German aircraft and I saw many of them 

shot down in this phase. life could be risky I out shopping as the Germans sometimes were 

able to machine gun high streets and peoples back gardens and on one occasion when our 

shelter was being enlarged to take our family and our four neighbours I was picked up by 

the workman and we dived into the shelter in on such an occasion as the gardens were 

fired upon. The R.A.F were so successful that the German Largely stopped daylight raids 

and started night-time bombing. On one occasion my wife had just returned from school 

when the school had a direct hit, and the cleaners were killed. After this happened most 

children did not go to school for many months. when the night-time bombing commenced, 

we had moved to a new house as our lovely flat had lost all windows and ceilings and              

internal walls were wobbling.                                                                                                                          

Our new house did not have a shelter so we all got into the coal cellar under the stairs and 

on occasion we had the three sisters and the son of one of them in this tiny space so there 

were 10 of us underneath the stairs. As we all did, we went to bed but had to get up when 

the wailing sirens went off in the middle of the night and my wife would go down to her 

grandmother’s underground coal cellars for their shelter. Many children of course were 

evacuated to the countryside without their families. The German raids at night were                    

eventually stopped as we developed a night fighter to shoot them down at night. We also 

had another weapon of defence in the form of enormous barrage balloons flown at                   

different heights to disrupt the Germans flight path. My family eventually had to go into a 

park shelter as in became too dangerous to stay in the house but unfortunately for us the 

shelter suffered a direct hit with my father crawling through a small tunnel with water and 

blankets for the injured and after this my father decided. that every night we would have 

to go to Piccadilly tube station and sleep on the platform when the trains stopped running.  

33.Peter Steer - wartime experiences 
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I forgot that while we were in our coal cellars, we had to put up with a mobile gun which 

would fire from the railway at the bottom of our garden and the whole house appeared 

to jump into the air. Of course, we all had ration books during the war with meat butter 

eggs margarine sweets and clothes all rationed along with many other items and on occa-

sion in the period when the hens were laying you could go weeks without an egg and 

then get six allocations all at once. Fruit was another thing that was difficult to get hold of 

and    bananas were not available at all.  

Towards the end of the war the Germans started using a V1 flying bomb which had a      

rocket motor and some small wings to help it fly and its engine would suddenly stop, and 

the bomb would fall to the ground and explode, this form of attack was launched from a 

mobile ramp over in France, but we stopped this form of attack by bombing the launch 

pads and using RAF planes to tip them over into the fields of Kent. The next weapon used 

was a V2 which was a rocket launched from Germany and came without warning and 

could do substantial damage. One landed in South London where my father worked and 

threw a railway line half a mile and the blast dented my father’s cigarette case in his coat. 

in the last year or so of the war we all went back to school and despite all the odd we did 

the eleven plus exams and we both went to grammar schools, but my school was in          

Taunton, so I was evacuated with my friends and we all took a 5-hour train journey from 

Paddington for what is a just over an hour now. We were met at the station and allocated 

to families and my friend Pat and I went to stay in a large house with two families which 

had previously had servants and I believe our room was the servants’ quarters.  

We had many adventures in the countryside as none of us had this opportunity before in 

our lives like being chased by a bull and fishing for roach in the river Tone. I should say 

that my wife's experience of shelters was to sleep under Mann Crossman Brewery cellar 

on beer crates with a mattress on top which was not exactly comfortable. When the war 

ended there were enormous celebrations and I remember being out in the street at 4am 

in the morning and we all went to street parties and on a subsequent occasion. my father 

took the whole family to Buckingham Palace to see the King and Queen and the two    

Princesses and Winston Churchill  

Later in the month we all went to Westminster to see a fabulous firework displays with all 

boats and bridges including temporary bridges lit up in a way that seemed forever.              

Obviously, our wartime experiences were much greater that this, but I hope this gives an       

impression of what it felt like during the war.  

          Peter Steer Clapham College 1944  

34.Peter Steer’s story continued 
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35. Bombs which fell around the College and Norbury WW2 

The only “Direct Hit” was the 

far corner of Norbury - lucky!! 
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On 9 July 1943, a lone German bomber pilot, separated from his squadron, was flying low 

over the town when he discharged his bomb-load. Many of the victims were children, 

watching a matinee performance of Hopalong Cassidy at the Whitehall  Cinema in London 

Road. It actually dropped among the cheaper seats, which were mainly occupied by                         

women and children.                                                                                                                                                      

Amongst the dead was a 16 year old Clapham College boy, Francis Currie [Charterhouse]. 

Francis was in the 4th Year and was buried in the cemetery at the Xaverian College,                                      

Mayfield, alongside the Brothers who used to teach him. Witnesses said that after dis-

charging the bombs, the pilot turned back and sent machine-gun fire along the street and 

approach to the railway station, adding to the toll of dead and injured comrades.                                       

The Bomber had spotted a convoy of Army trucks travelling along the High Street and 

dropped eight bombs, causing the largest single wartime loss of life in Sussex. The bombs 

that fell on East Grinstead that day, killed 108 people and seriously injured 235 more.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bernard Fincham [CC 1935 to 1940] Alpha class, sent me the above account 6 years ago. 

Bernard often cycled home from East Grinstead. He cycled the 25 miles to Wandsworth 

and back at weekends to visit his father; his mother and sister had been evacuated to   

Seaford on the coast and his father was living alone in London. Bernard passed his                

matriculation, billeted in Sussex; where now he had been joined by a Sergeant from the 

Guards, who what been lucky enough to be evacuated from Dunkirk 1940.                                                        

Bernard returned to Wandsworth and joined Lloyd’s Bank in the High Street. He was 

“called up” and joined the Lothian Border Yeomanry and served all over Europe as a                               

wireless operator in tanks. He was involved in the Allied Crossing of the Rhine into                  

Germany in 1945.After the War Bernard returned home and was married, retired to                          

Beckenham, he passed away in 2020.                                     ++  RIP Bernard ++ 

36. Francis Curie & his friend Bernard Fincham RIP 

Who would have 

thought as Bernard 

and his friend Francis 

were walking to the 

Cinema that July day 

that one would never 

go home again and 

that the other would 

be able to tell the 

story 77 years later. 
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37. The Whitehall Theatre Bombing July 1943 
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  38. Letter to the parents from the Head whilst the College was in Taunton 1945 
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39.  Letter from the Chairman of the Old Xaverians to Cernuschi [there were three brothers…] 
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Clapham College had been a respected Boarding School with famous pupils and a world-wide reputation. 

Amazing just before WW2 ONE there were no qualified teachers and only one had a university degree. 

The attraction was the “trust” in the Catholic Church and the reputation of the Brothers. This was a full 

formal Inspection - hadn't had one like this before, unfortunately it showed, they were not too happy. 

40 .The 1949 Inspection of Clapham College 
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41. “Excuse the Quality, Feel the Width” [of the content] really poor copying. 
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42. Physical Education and “the Corporate Life” of the College 
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Art and Music did OK in that 500 square foot room 

    43.  Inspection Report 1949 ...continued 
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44. The History Department - looks well resourced with teachers  
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45. Just about readable - but worth including - Maths & Latin - not good 
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46. Drop Latin and Maths “below average” - the pain continues. 
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1947 The Sports Field at Norbury is still requisitioned by the Ministry of Agriculture but after long             

negotiations we now hope that we may soon call it our own again. Even so, it will be some two years  

before we shall be able to use it for games and .athletics. We are hard-pressed in the interim and if any 

Old Boy can help in the matter of finding a ground we can rent on two or three afternoons a week we 

shall be duly grateful. [It was laid out to Allotments for five years before it was returned]. [Concordia ‘47] 

47. The conclusion of the Inspectors Report - Norbury from the air 
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48. - The tragic death of Ken Riley 1945  

Ken Riley and his brother Leslie were at the College from 1928 to 1935. Ken was an intelligent boy 

and a good sportsman [Head Glastonbury House]. Ken was a Captain in the Signals Reg. he excelled 

and had just been transferred to the Intelligence Corps. Below are contents of his kitbag. 

Ken’s kit was sold for £4.16.5 pence, however, 

he had debts of £4.16shillings - tough times. 
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The Air Transport investigation into the aeroplane crash which took Ken’s life and that of 

21 other military. Two females had “hitched” a lift, they were not on the passenger list. 

The plane was overweight and hit a mountain in fog, near Naples. This crash that led to 

stricter controls on aircraft. Ken was a career soldier he died without fulfilling his potential. 

49. Air transport Investigation into the crash in Italy, which killed Ken Riley  
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50. Poor copy of the Description of the Air Crash in Naples 

The survivor was able to give an account of what happened. But unexperienced pilots,                

overcrowded and heavy plane flying in “unknown area” with no radar. Recipe for disaster. 
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51. Clapham College Prefects, Exam Results and Staff Changes 1947
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52. Pay up Manchester - we want our £300 back 

 

I love the idea of Xaverian Ethos, the Brotherhood of Holy Order, but 

be honest these were Roman Catholics and it involves money. 

The real shame here is that when you loan some money,  

the onus is for the debtor to repay. Not for the lender to 

beg for their money back [it’s embarrassing]. Hopefully 

Manchester paid their debt, @cos today that would be  

worth about twenty grand !!  



54 

       Michael Creech 18/10/34   [Clapham College 1946 to 1951] 

Joined Clapham College [Glastonbury] soon after the end of WW2. 1945 Living through the War in the 

Clapham area, bombed out and derelict homes could still be seen all around on my walk to school.        

Rationing continued until the early 1950s. We lived near the Windmill Pub, on the Common, rented 

rooms off Elms Road. Six of us sleeping in one room! War education was poor, because of the air raid 

warnings and evacuation. All my personal education took place within 10 minutes’ walk from our home in 

Elms Road. Notre Dame Infants [on South Side Clapham College], St Marys [mixed] on Crescent Lane, 

and then St Marys Boys on St Alphonsus Road.  

I was pleasantly surprised to pass the 11-plus “opening” my way for a place a Grammar School, Clapham 

College [just down the road!], even more surprised that I was in the “Alpha Group”! ..I’m truly shocked – 

no idea the Alpha was supposed to be the “top academic class” – I was a “A” [Ed]. Thus ended my          

academic achievements at that time. London had many single-sex boys grammar schools, but I chose the 

nearest to my home. My parents allowed me to make my choice – and I chose Clapham College! 

My Dad had bought me a second-hand bicycle, that I used to get to and from school. All my books were 

1930s “vintage” [ten years or more old], as were all the books at Clapham. Many were in very poor           

condition. I can remember the “teaching Brothers”,; - Nicholas, Stephen, Damian and Dunstan [Dunstan 

had been a Xaverian boarder in 1890!]. He had an extraordinary memory. Once I was in the playground 

when there was a mighty explosion, Dunstan came out through the smoke with a white towel around his 

bleeding hand. He had been busy making fireworks at break-time …only at Clapham! 

School discipline was bad, partly I think because of the rough boys from the Old Kent Road, [they know 

who they are] Clapham and Wandsworth boys were so “genteel”. Putting a bin above the door before a 

master came into the classroom and mixing various chemicals in the Lab to create unpleasant smells or 

toxic smoke just the tip of the iceberg of “behaviour problems”. Gambling with cards and betting on   

horses was another side-line [this is a “future” priest at a Grammar school writing!], occupied large             

numbers during playtime. Great excitement spread through the whole school, when there was news 

about sweets being sold at playtime in a tuck shop, pop, gum and a selection of penny sweets on sale – 

amazing as “rationing” was still in force. The Chapel was important with occasional masses and services 

and regular benediction. I suspect most boys would have been regular church goers, though playing cards 

in Chapel was not unheard of! Football and cricket were very popular. The Common, opposite the Col-

lege, was not allowed to have any organised sport on it, so we were forced to travel to Morden for sport. 

I    remember that so well, a practice match to select the First XI Cricket team. I was first in to face a 

“demon” fast bowler [I think “Nichols”]. I had no problem, hit some runs and was selected for the First XI, 

although I was in a much younger form. My Dad bought me my first “treasured” cricket bat. So often 

have I driven past Emmanuel School on Wandsworth Common, remembering the time I opened the 

batting, and carried my bat [though not scoring many runs].                                                                                                                      

Salesian College, were our main rival, were rarely beat them. So, most Saturdays were taken up by either 

football, or cricket. The Brother’s schools in Mayfield and Brighton were also part of our fixtures list. I 

lived a busy hectic life away from school, enrolling in church bellringing. However, in my teens,                              

academically I was slipping back fast. Exam results, and places/positions in class lists were displayed on 

the school noticeboard for all to see “no hiding place” with my name featuring about 25th [at least there 

were 8 places below!]. It was entirely my own fault. My usual habit was to do / complete homework in 

the morning, in the playground, just before the bell rang. 

53. A few more memories from the boys of the 1940s - YES, they are still “out there” 
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Memory not good enough to remember names, in the photo above; event was first 

school fair in the late forties, 49 perhaps. A team of us marched to military music 

played on a gramophone. Lots of demonstrations of school work, with side shows, 

places for tea and drinks. It was opened by a popular English film Sir. He charged a    

fortune, l gathered. It was a first since the 30s so it was thought good publicity. After 

that more humble locals like the MP. Sorry can’t be more helpful. Blessings, Michael 

Creech 

I can well remember Cecil Pocock’s first class [Geography “God help us”, or History – more like it].   

Unlike the normal staid and formal masters, he was actually bright, chatty and humorous. My younger 

brother Terry joined me for my last year at Clapham College. I always cherish that photo of him          

wearing my old cap [we shared it!].  Terry became a priest too, resident a Lourdes for years [see              

photo below.] Dad very suddenly died, leaving Mum with four children to bring up. I still have the love-

ly letter from Brother Joseph to Mum. School was also very kind to me, allowing me to come in late 

and leave early, o take young brother Philip to Infant School, whilst Mum went to work. I hope you 

could read my writing [I could easily] and that you find something of interest                                                                                    

[I did – all of it ..Ed]…………....,Blessings, Michael [Creech]  

    54. Father Michael Creech in the 1940s continued….. 
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55. The Clapham Boys of the “Forties” lived through it’s 50th Anniversary 

A proud Head Boy,                        

Vlad Felzmann [now                        

Mon Vlad, in charge of the 

John Paul Foundation for 

Sport] clutching the prize he 

received from Lord Longford. 

Vlad fundraising 

for St Mary’s organ 
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The “Roaring       

Forties” changed the 

History of Clapham. 

Those Old Boys who 

lived through that 

decade have written 

their first-hand      

accounts. 

    Personalia - Old Boys Jottings 

This small group of Xaverians, many in their “nineties” have been wonderful     

ambassadors of Clapham. The Clapham Old Boys were only formed in 1928, so 

many of these were their for the early years of the Association. Had there been 

any apathy from this small band we certainly wouldn’t be celebrating 125 years of 

the Xaverians and Clapham this year. 

These Xaverians are now in their 80s and 90s and some of the wonderful stories 

and articles in Chapter 6 were written in the 21st Century to give us that rich                

legacy that will last for as long as this Association survives. These Od Boys are a 

direct link to the Xaverian Brothers, the Blitz, Evacuation, Tragedy and Glory, Sport 

and Academia and all this carried out under the banner of the Roman Catholic 

Church. Michael Creech, Brian White, Peter Kelleher, Vlad Felzmann, Eddie      

Kachell Peter Steer, Bernard Fincham, Nick Lynch, Michael Nicholl, Patrick 

Gooch, Cyril Murtagh, John Keen, Perter Keen, James Robinson and that       

wonderful exchange from the “long deceased” pair of Xaverian brothers Aloysius 

and Alphonse. Some of their colleague have passed in the 21st Century, but taken        

together, their memories and “scribblings” have made a very personal                               

contribution to the Xaverian Archive. 

As editor of this very “selective” History of we Clapham Xaverians I needed to 

attribute the part current Old Boys have made to this publication. As Chapter 7, 

starts to be collated I’d like the Boys of the 1950s to send me their thoughts,     

stories and experiences. The “Roaring Forties” have set the bar very high, dig out 

your photos too and name names. To conclude Chapter Six I shall add “pen       

pictures” of this group [through the “eyes” of someone who was born in 1951]. 

56. The “FORTIES” BOYS - A Tribute to the COXA “Pathfinders” 
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57. Forties Personalia …..continues 

Priests - again these were at he core of the boys of the “Forties”, I only count eight, 

many, any fewer than the earlier years. Some are still serving Mass and Vlad is putting us 

all to shame with his incredible show of fitness in his role and fund-raising events. 

Monsignor Vlad Felzmann Clapham 1949 to 1957 [Head Boy] Walsingham, Wandsworth 

Javelin Champion [all sports] only he could be appointed as the CEO for the John Paul II 

Foundation for Sport [is Catholic Chaplain for Sport] [serves mass for the Old Boys]           

Michael Creech [1946-51] active Old Boy priest, offers Mass on Remembrance Sunday in 

our Chapel. Michael has had a “love affair” with St Mary’s Clapham, it has dominated his 

life. The brilliant photo of him in his shorts, and his article, gives an insight into the man.            

Anthony Richins [Clapham 1943 to 1951] completes this trio of characters. He affected       

everyone he came into contact with, you could never forget Anthony, an unbelievable 

character. Head was Chairman of Xaverians and chaplain at John Fisher. Of course, he had 

a full church organ in his house running through the ground and first floor. A true legend. 

Tony Burnham,  Michael Aust, John [Jim] Clinton and Andrew Ebrihim complete the 

“Magnificent Seven” priests of the 1940s. Apart from Andrew, who was the Rector of St 

Anne’s in Chertsey and affiliated to the Salesians [boo], the rest not “career priests”, but 

had full careers in insurance, administration and accountancy before they the priesthood.  

Emigrants – there has always been a drift of Xaverians to far flung parts of the globe 

these Clapham boys on the whole made Canada and the USA their homes. Eight emigrated 

to North America [four each to USA & Canada] the other two [that I an aware of ] ended 

up in Brussels and another in New South Wales. Cas Lawrence [1944-1950] after joining 

the Canadian Airforce became a commercial pilot in Manitoba Canada; Rafel Prezednowek 

[1948-55]know as “Perch” [1944 to 1955], together with his brother John, recently joined 

the Association after a 60 year break. Rafal lives in Ottawa. John Nash [1948-1955]                 

Charterhouse, was probably one of our most successful and revered “exports” to the USA, 

after completing his PhD [no, not at Clapham] he moved to the USA where he became a 

College lecturer. Professor John lives in Tennessee [at the most fabulously-named location 

“South Mountain View Circle Johnson City”, - beats “Balham”! John is the author of many 

books and papers [“he can be Googled”]. Vincent Ennis [1948-1955] the brother of 1970s 

Chairman Tom, managed to reach the “heights” of County Cricket Umpire, [after he        

returned from his Nat West bank duties in Brussels. John Golton “banked” in more exotic 

locations, working in the far East for Charter Bank; together with other postings, he 

worked in Kuala Lumpa and Calcutta, he passed his A.I.B. Exams in India.                                          

Finally, Tony Tuft 1941 to 47, emigrated to New South Wales, whist Denis Gorner                          

[1943 to 1950 emigrated in 1956 to Washington [they don’t often come back]. 



59 

58. Interesting and Famous Xaverians of the “Roaring Forties” 

What makes a Clapham Old Xaverian “interesting or famous”? I suppose we could start 
with normally “unassuming” Gerald Burgess [Canterbury 1946 to 1951, who in the 1958 
COXA AGM listed his interests as “bloodsucking”. He obviously had a biological problem, 
because at the College he was convinced that “My heart is on the wrong side!”.                            
 He’s closely followed [probably both in the famous and interesting columns] by                   
Paul Du Feu 1945 to 1952, no great sporting or academic excellence her but In 1968 after 
being discharged from the hospital where he had been treated for alcohol poisoning, Paul 
met Germaine Greer, then an assistant lecturer at the University of Warwick, outside a 
pub in Portobello Road and after a brief courtship they married at Paddington Registry 
office. Later that year the Daily Express ran the  headline       
"I was Mr Germaine Greer" "Our marriage lasted three-and-a
-half weeks and that was three weeks too long!" [although 
their relationship continued for three years. Paul’s                
reputation as a super-stud grew with a string of beautiful and 
famous actresses and models, he had merchandised his 
whing-ding with Greer into the first nude centrefold of British 
Cosmopolitan, plus an insouciant sexual memoir, Let’s Hear It 
for the Long-Legged Woman .                                                         
 Greer later recalled that she had been unfaithful Paul 
seven times during their short relationship, and she had 
spent her wedding night in an armchair because her husband, 
drunk, as he would not let her into the bed. Eventually, during 
a party near Ladbroke Grove, Paul turned to her, and sneered 
(drunk as usual): 'I could have any woman in this room.' 
'Except me,' she said, and walked away forever. After this, Paul 
posed in British Cosmopolitan, thought to be their first almost-
naked male centrefold. In 1973 he also published an erotic                        
memoir, Let's Hear it for the Long-legged Women, for which it 
is claimed he was paid more than Greer had been given as the 
advance for her 1970 work The Female Eunuch.[7].  He was Ted 
Hayter’s “mate” at Clapham! Paul died in Oakland California 

aged 77 after a full and varied 
life. Not bad from a boy from 
Wrexham, with an exotic 
name, educated 
at Clapham      
College, with a  
King’s College 
Degree he met 
Greer in Chelsea 
he’d been work-
ing as a builder! 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Germaine_Greer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/University_of_Warwick
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Portobello_Road
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ladbroke_Grove
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cosmopolitan_(magazine)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/The_Female_Eunuch
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Paul_du_Feu#cite_note-7
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   59. More Famous and Interesting from the “40s” 

Sir Peter Brookes  1941--1947 [House Captain Glastonbury] emigrated to New        
Zealand. Bernard Plummer OBE, now living in Cambridgeshire, Charterhouse  Head 
Boy. 1951. Sir Nicholas Scott [MBE] 1944 to 1951- Minister of 
State for Northern Ireland , was in the RAF excellent cricketer 
[again a friend of Ted  Hayter]- he once scored 145 runs v Eton. 
His batting average was impressive: during a 16-year playing   
career for the Lords and Commons he scored over 2,000 runs, 
and in 1972 posted an average of 238 runs. He fought for the 
humanitarian causes as a Conservative MP, his views often 
swimming against the tide of Tory opinion. Nick spoke out against discrimination of 
foreign students and demanding more nursery education. In 1968 when Labour Home 
secretary James Callaghan proposed immigration limits on the entry of East African 
Asians with UK passports, Scott swam against the tide and refused to join the          
Conservative shadow government in supporting the limits. He was one of the first     
Conservative MPs to speak out against Enoch Powell's 1968 anti-immigration speech. 
With the advent of the Heath government Scott stuck with his principles opposing the 
sale of arms to apartheid South Africa. An honourable man and revered Xaverian.        
Brian Baldock OBE, 1945-52, Canterbury. Good cricketers and Chairman of many large 

global corporations. Born in 1934, Brian Baldock was educated 
Clapham College. Following three years National Service, he began 
a career in international business. Six years with Procter and      
Gamble, nine with Smith and Nephew, Director, then onto the 
Board of Revlon [International] in Paris. Recruited by Courage, he 
returned to the UK in 1978 was appointed Managing Director     
Leisure & Retailing in the Imperial Group. The to the Board of   
Guinness in 1986 as Dev. Director and was appointed Chairman 
and Managing Director Guinness 1987, and Deputy Chairman in 

1992. He retired from Guinness at the mandatory age in 1996. He was awarded the 
CBE in the 1997 Queen’s Birthday Honours List. He was Chairman of Sygen Interna-
tional plc from 1966 to 2002, a Non-Executive Director of Marks and Spencer plc from 
October 1996 and ultimately to Chairman in June 1999. Previously he was Director of 
Cornhill Insurance from 1996 to October 2002 and Director of Dalgety Corporation plc 
from 1992 to 1996. He is currently Chairman of MENCAP.  

At the 2008 Sir Kenneth Cork Lecture at the Octogen, he was the “ Key Speaker” for 
the Charter Management Institute, he famously said  

There is no middle ground in the modern business just “winners” and 
“losers”; and he should know after his 40 years in the “business trenches” 
- who but he could give such a holistic “Helicopter View”? 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Batting_average_(cricket)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/James_Callaghan
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Enoch_Powell
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Edward_Heath
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60. More Famous Xaverians of the 1940s 

In terms of “Talented Xaverians” we have Bruce Watson 1948 -1954 a professional     

trumpeter, who played live on several editions of the Ken Dodd Show on ITV.                                 

Michael Milligan 1949 to 57 moved to Norfolk and ended up serving 

for many years  for the RLBA on the Cromer Lifeboat.  John Cooper 

1944 to 1949 eventually moved to Plymouth where his experience 

lead to a career in TV, eventually becoming Head of Films for                      

Westward TV. Michael [Mik] Hodges 1944 to 1952 [Glastonbury] became a talented    

photographer, travelling the world taking photos, he followed Princess Margaret on her 

Colonial Tour of Africa in 1965, he eventually moved to Hong Kong as a newspaper      

photographer for the Hong Kong Gazette. Mike Fitzgerald was a twin and joined Clapham 

in 1948, he went on to teach, bind books in his free time and became Mayor of                  

Maidstone. Brian Holohan Clapham 1947 to 1954 was a bright boy, who went on to work 

as an engineer/designer for De Haviland, later working on the Blue Streak Missile. The 

next two appeal to me more.. [Engleman 1948][no Christian name] which is apt, as he 

was the only non-Catholic in the Year! Danny Assirati 1946 [Canterbury] is another fall-

back to the “famous relations group”, his Uncle Bert was the British and European           

Wrestling Champion. Then there were the “traitors” those Clapham Boys who played for 

other OB teams, the name gives him away..Frank Ferrett played football for another Old 

Boys team,..as the COXA Captain reported it at the time “I couldn't believe my eyes”!  

“BJ” Burton 1947, worked for the Met Office on a Metrological Ship in the Atlantic,         

reporting back the weather.  

John Egan, 1944 to 1949, Charterhouse, worked in insurance, but served as a Councillor 

for Enfield Council, eventually appointed the Mayor. Albert Stallion 1948 –1953, what an 

appropriate name for an entrepreneur who frequented Aintree and owned a chain of 

Betting Shops. Who could forget the 70 plus year-old at the Chairman’s Lunch with his 

new, young Far Eastern bride. Do any of our “Forties Lads” remember Anthony Ajle Van-

Stenne, 1943– 46, not a name you’d forget easily. This Old Boy of Dutch decent went on 

to manage a sugar plantation in Trinidad. John Dennis Reddaway, 1943 to 50, who 

caused consternation when he entered his occupation in the Members Book at the AGM 

as “Anarchist”, later amended to Architect! John Laurence 1943 to 45, was only with us 

for a short time at Clapham, but his talent moved him on to become the scriptwriter for 

Tommy Trinder [one for the Fulham fans there]. Michael Barry 1942-49 did OK for him-

self and become a solicitor in Epsom and “Freeman of the City of London”. Peter Hughes 
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61. And finally... Old Boys who served COXA for decades. 

These guys from the 1940s Clapham College intakes are all multi-talented [and I have to 

apologise to anyone I have left out]. I have highlighted 100 plus Clapham Lads who started 

in to 1940s, whether it was in East Grinstead, Taunton or Clapham. If anyone reading can 

think of “obvious omissions” please contact me with their details [even if it’s you] and I’ll 

add them to the online version. This is the same story  for all Decades!!  The archive after 

all will never be a “Science”, neither mind you is it a “Work of Art”! So ………. 

Loyal Xaverians - apologies if you feel this group has more talent than my “loyal     

Xaverian”  offers; I suggest is write in and I’ll upgrade [there is no Grading Committee]. 

Eugene Doyle 1942 to 1948 emigrated to Connecticut USA, Vice-President of the Irving 

Trust, USA. Paul Arthur [Tiger} Allain 1944-1953 [named after Moscow Dynamo keeper], 

would that have been “Tiger” or “Arthur”?          

Tony Morrish 1944 to 1953 [Charterhouse]   - a 

loyal Xaverian active participant both at College 

and  for the Committee, Athletics, Football,              

Cricket, one wonders where he had the time to 

become a successful businessman as a Director of  

British Road Services.                                                 

Michael Weir 1948 to 1954 Canterbury.  Apart  

from sport and Customs and Excise there wasn't 

much about Mick - apart from this clip from the 

1961 Concordia.                                                                                                                                            

       

 Patrick Gooch 1948 to 1956 Canterbury - Footballer/Cricketer, then designer and     

author. Paddy Butler 1945 to 1952, now living in Salisbury, one of our oldest Members.   

Peter Browne 1945 to 1956 legendary table tennis player and high scoring footballer, if 

you look at his strike-rate of goals and the many decades he played for the Xaverians he 

MUST be our highest-ever goal-scorer. [anyone disputing this, please contact Peter direct]. 

And whilst on “the Brownes” is Colin [Pete’s son] the Xaverian with most appearances? 

[still playing in 2022]. Paul Kanssen 1948 to 1955 Charterhouse, and still a regular contrib-

utor to Concordia, with photographs and snippets of news, talents in Advertising, Printing 

& Graphic Design, are probably advantageous. Aiden Corish 1948 to 1956 [Head Boy] 

Charterhouse, Imperial College, Civil Engineer, Blue Circle Cement, an Alpha and chess 

player………..almost there……………………….. 
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62. More Loyal Clapham Xaverians 

There could be a book written on the last names from the “Forties”, but restrictions on 

space means the briefest of “Pen Pictures”.  

                Brian 

Sanders 1947 to 1955 [Captain of Walsingham]. 

Apart  from a slight miscalculation on Brian’s side 

and a short time at Wimbledon College teaching, 

Brian has given three quarters of a century service 

to the College, the Teaching Staff, the Committee 

[as chairman too] cricket, football, table tennis 

and and provided FOUR sons for the College and 

Old Boys. A man and teacher of “Trips”, well over 

200 to France. Unbelievably, for the nicest, 

politest man I have ever know, he’s a Peckham 

Boy and Millwall Season ticket   holder [and of 

course Surrey CCC; [for many years he was seen in 

the company of his best friend Dave Slattery 1947 

to 1954 RBS Manager. [Canterbury].                                                   

Ted Hayter 1945-1951 Glastonbury a legend 

of words and humour Head Teacher St            

Joseph’s Primary Sch., Cricketer. If you listen 

to him probably the biggest advertisement 

against National Service, didn't much like  

Yorkshire. Started his career in a sleezy night-

club on the Thames. Managed to get into “The 

Times” as the oldest opening   batsman in 

England. A fantastic advert for you are as old as you act [he’s    

neve grown up fully].  COXA Chairman and Committee Member for 

seventy years. …”they threw away the mould….”                                            

Denis Quinn 1946 to 1954 Head Boy and Charterhouse, brilliant scholar, Committee   

Chairman and loyal member, he fought to get our 

Building Fund back, but HM Gov’t won. Played                    

football and cricket for both School and Old Boys and    

donated his beautiful cricket blazer to our Archive. 

Denis was very proud of winning the Senior High 

Jump on School Sports Day, with the “Western Roll”. 
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63. The “Forties” the year that goes “on and “on” 

Henry Pinsent 1944 to 

1951 Charterhouse - 

outstanding sportsman 

[footballer and         

athlete]. What a man, 

what a loyal servant 

to the Old Boys. 

Again falls into the 

legend, humble,     

polite categories . 

Amazing fitness in both body and mind . Excelled in Maths and 

rose to the position of Senior Maths  Lecturer at Chelsea College, 

University of London. Headed that old leather football as if it was a 

beachball, his “leaps” to head the ball were amazing, even as an older man. Sorely missed. 

John Keenan 1947-54 [Captain Glastonbury] School 1st XI Cricket Capt.                
Manager of Castrol Oil [Wakefield] Chairman of COXA. . John was  
Chairman from 1971 - 1974. John's played football for COXA 1st XI but 
his real passion and talent was at cricket. John was an outstanding                    
cricketer [left hand fast bowler] took 133 wickets in one season for his 
chosen team - Old Thorntonians!!! 

Denis Gamber 1945 to 1954 was another unforgettable Clapham Old Xaverian. He had a 
fabulous sense of humour and quote “was areal gentleman”. In “real life” Denis was a 
Bank Manager. But he “came alive” in COXA. In those early days having a car was a great 
way of being selected for the Lower Teams. Somehow Denis managed to get a goalkeepers 
shirt and what looked like “Biker’s Gauntlets” and with this tools was selected at 4th XI 
Captain. His goal kicks were toe punts and he wasn’t very agile [he was getting on], but he 
was  accepted by his young team as skip and keeper.  All the other duties, hospitality, subs, 
lifts and reporting back to Derek Rowe we a doddle for Denis. He was a footballer made 
for Old Boys football. Denis was of Italian decent [ real name Denis Gamberosso] his 
daughter is a mutual friend of The Frank Barretta family. 
Peter Freddi 1944 to 1949 was another Xaverian who gave years of service to the COXA 
Committee and was a talented well-liked sportsman . Peter worked in Insurance and had a 
“Kensington address and he loved his football. 

Apologies if the Pen Pictures of the Boys of the Forties went on too long, but there was so 
much on them in the Archive, it could have been even longer. They clearly were the solid 
foundation this Association was built on; it is great that in 2022 some will see this tribute. 


